**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**No. 2014-CA-00292**

KELLY R. BURGE

APELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO.: 2015-CA-01580

CRAIG A. BURGE

APPELLEE

---

**BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

**APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF FORREST COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI  
HONORABLE M. RON DOLEAC, CHANCELLOR, PRESIDING**

---

*Oral Argument Requested*

Phillip Londeree MS Bar# 104050  
**LONDEREE & TOWNSEND, LLC**  
**ATTORNEYS AND COUNSELLORS AT LAW**  
529 EAST CENTRAL AVE.  
P.O. BOX 445  
PETAL, MS 39465  
PHONE: (601) 336-5033  
FAX: (601) 336-6483  
EMAIL: Phillip@ltzlaw.com

**CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE NATURAL PARENT PRESUMPTION HAD BEEN OVERCOME AS TO KELLY BURGE
  
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MODIFYING CAUSE NO. 2003-0358-GN-G FOR RELIEF MADE BY A PARTY WHOSE CLAIMS WERE SUBJECT TO INVOLUNTARY DISMISSAL

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition in the Lower Court

This is a divorce and child custody case, originally brought by appellee Craig Burge seeking a divorce from his wife, Kelly Burge, on grounds of adultery. Custody of two minor children born to appellant Kelly Burge in her previous marriage to Chad Sharff was also considered by the trial court; subsequent to Craig Burge's divorce filing, Chad Sharff filed a modification action in the previous divorce, and Sharff and Craig Burge then successfully petitioned the Court for consolidation of the two cases, which was granted.

Craig Burge filed his *Complaint for Divorce & Related Relief* on March 21, 2013 seeking custody of the two children of his marriage, the two children of Kelly Burge's previous marriage, and a divorce on the grounds of adultery, habitual cruel and inhumane treatment, habitual and excessive drug use, desertion, and irreconcilable differences. (Rec. Ex. 2 at 32-33; Clerk's Papers 0031-0038). Subsequently on April 9, 2013 a Rule 81 hearing was convened, and the Court entered a *Temporary Order* on April 26, 2013 ordering that Craig Burge have temporary physical custody and outlining visitation. (Rec. Ex. 3; Clerk's Papers 0051-0054).

While no indication exists on the record that Chad Sharff was ever served process in this cause, he filed in the Burge matter his *Answer and Petition to Join Party Needed for Just Adjudication* on August 1, 2013. (Rec. Ex. 4; Clerk's Papers 0057-0065). Therein Sharff denied that Craig Burge was *in loco parentis*, but joined Craig Burge's request for custody of all four minor children, including the two Sharff children. Sharff also sought modification of the previous divorce judgment, but only to suspend his child support obligation to Kelly and

to claim the two Sharff children as tax dependents. No similar filing was made in the Sharff divorce matter at this time. On June 18, 2014, a trial setting, Craig Burge raised an *ore tenus* motion to consolidate the Burge and Sharff divorces; Kelly Burge objected, and the court sustained that objection and granted a continuance until June 17, 2014 for the purpose of a new modification action being filed in the Sharff divorce to make that case ripe for consolidation. (Transcript, 22-49). The same was not accomplished on that date, and additional time was provided by the Court for the same purpose. (Transcript, beginning at 50).

On June 20, 2014 Chad Sharff filed his *Petition for Modification of Child Custody and Motion to Transfer 2003-0358-GN to Join and Consolidate With 2013-0166-GN-DO* in Cause No. 2003-0358-GN. Chancellor Deborah Gambrell entered the *Order Consolidating 2003-0358-GN-G with Cause Number 2013-0166-GN-DO* on October 10, 2014. (Rec. Ex. 6). It is noteworthy that in his filings in the Burge divorce case Sharff sought a transfer of custody of his children to Craig Burge; in the Sharff divorce modification, Sharff sought custody for himself, and only alternatively for Burge. A *Motion to Consolidate* was subsequently filed in the Burge divorce matter, followed by an *Order Consolidating 2003-0358-GN-G with Cause Number 2013-0166-GN-DO*. (Rec Ex. 7; Clerk's Papers 0110-0112 and 8; Clerk's Papers 0120-0121).

This matter was re-set for trial on December 11, 2014 pursuant to the trial court's *Order* of December 9, 2014, ultimately being completed on July 2, 2015. This Court entered its *Opinion and Final Judgment* on September 16, 2015. (Rec. Ex. 1; Clerk's Papers 0167-256). It is from that Judgment that this appeal is taken.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal is based in both substantive and procedural grounds, and in both instances speaks to the trial Court's judgment granting custody of all four minor children – including two children from Kelly Burge's previous marriage – to Craig Burge. “A chancellor's custody decision will be reversed only if it is manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous, or if the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard.” *In re Waites*, 152 So.2d 306 (¶13) (Miss. 2014); *Smith v. Smith*, 97 So.3d 43, 46 (Miss. 2012).

In this case it is the contention of the appellant that the trial court was manifestly wrong in finding that the natural parent presumption of Kelly Burge was rebutted due to her relationship with Burke Williamson, her paramour, and her failure to comply with the Court's temporary orders directing that she remit funds to the appellee and prevent contact between Burke Williamson and the minor children. Similarly, the appellant contends that the trial court applied an erroneous legal standard, having found in effect that engaging in a post-separation affair and acting in contempt of a court order constitutes moral and/or mental unfitness sufficient to rebut the natural parent presumption.

Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. *In re Custody of M.A.G.*, 859 So.2d 1001, 1003 (¶4) (Miss. 2003). In this case, the Chancellor granted a consolidation of Chad Sharff's modification of his divorce judgment from Kelly Burge with the divorce action filed against Kelly Burge by Craig Burge. In the former, Chad Sharff sought to modify the judgment as to custody, alleging to seek custody for himself, but expending effort only in the attempt to have custody of his two children vested in Craig Burge. Craig Burge sought similar relief in his divorce of Kelly Burge.

It is the contention of the appellant that after the dismissal of Chard Sharff's modification action pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 41(b), no prayers for relief seeking to modify the Sharff divorce survived. As a result, it is legally impossible that such a modification be granted in this case; in essence, here the chancellor dismissed the Sharff modification action, then granted Craig Burge a modification in the Sharff divorce – to which he is not a party, and in relation to which he had no standing.

I. *Substantive Argument; Issue One*

Substantively, the Chancellor ruled that Kelly Burge's natural parent Presumption had been rebutted due to findings that she had engaged in conduct so immoral as to be detrimental to the children, and that she was unfit, mentally or otherwise to have custody. (See Rec. Ex. 1 at 53; Clerk's Papers 0219). These findings are based on the fact that Kelly Burge had a boyfriend, Burke Williamson, prior to her divorce being finalized, and due to failure to comply with the Court's temporary orders directing that child support be remitted to Craig Burge and that the minor children not be exposed to Burke Williamson.

The natural parent presumption must be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence that a parent has engaged in conduct so immoral as to be detrimental to the minor children. *In re Dissolution of Marriage of Leverock and Hamby*, 23 So.3d 424, 431 (¶24) (Miss. 2009). Having a boyfriend, post-separation, during more than two years of divorce litigation does not meet this burden; neither does contempt of a temporary order through exposing teenage children to a paramour or failing to remit child support funds. Notably, no party

alleged any detrimental effect on the minor children resulting therefrom, and no such finding was made by the Court.

Similarly, a finding that Kelly Burge is mentally or otherwise unfit was made by the trial court, based on substantially the same grounds; that Kelly Burge maintained a relationship with Burke Williamson; that she did not remit support payments made to her by Chad Sharff to Craig Burge; that she disobeyed temporary orders prohibiting contact between the minor children and Burke Williamson, and that she did not appear to find it harmful for the minor children to be spend time in Burke Williamson's company.

Again, this conduct falls well short of mental or other unfitness sufficient to rebut the natural parent presumption, for the same reasons. Here the trial court specifically notes that Kelly Burge's decisions in relation to Williamson call her parental and mental fitness into question, referencing exhaustive testimony regarding Williamson, but failing to make any findings of fact as to whether or how Williamson is or has been a danger to, or detrimental to, the minor children. No testimony on the record provides a basis for this finding.

It has not, should not, and can not be the practice of Mississippi Courts to abandon the natural parent presumption because some parents engage in post-separation affairs, and it is an unacceptably extreme and unjust sanction for contempt of a court's temporary order.

## *II. Procedural Argument; Issue Two*

The judgment at issue in this appeal was made after the consolidation of the Burges' divorce action and a modification action – filed later by Chad Sharff – in Kelly Burge's previous divorce case against her ex-husband, Sharff pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 42(a).

This consolidation was made over the strenuous objection of Kelly Burge, and the trial court provided continuances to allow for the modification action to be brought into the posture necessary for consolidation.

It may be beyond the purview of the appellate courts, but the record strongly supports the Guardian ad Litem's conclusion, found in his preliminary report, that Chad Sharff, aggrieved ex-husband of Kelly Burge, and Craig Burge, aggrieved present husband (previous to the judgment appealed here) colluded with the intention of doing harm to Kelly Burge's interests in a shameful misuse of the procedural processes provided in Mississippi Law.

In short, in order to achieve the goal of depriving Kelly Burge of custody of all four of the minor children at issue in this cause, Chad Sharff filed a complaint seeking modification of his previous divorce action, seeking custody of the minor children or, alternatively, that custody of the minor children be vested in Craig Burge. On its face, a desire to see ones minor children raised by a third party raises certain suspicions. In this cause, Craig Burge lacks standing to seek a modification of the Sharff divorce, and Chad Sharff presented no evidence in and did not attend the vast majority of the trial in this consolidated matter.

Subsequently, the Court granted Kelly Burge's motion pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 41 (b) seeking involuntary dismissal of Chad Sharff's claims. Upon the dismissal of Chad Sharff's prayers for relief in the form a change in custody in favor of Craig Burge, this Court's jurisdiction over the Sharff divorce was ended. Because Craig Burge lacks standing in the Sharff divorce, no sustainable motion for any modification of custody survived in that

cause, and this Court lacked the grounds and the jurisdiction to modify Cause No.: 2003-0358-GN-G.

Consistent with the foregoing, Kelly Burge asks this Court to find that the Chancellor in this cause erred in finding that her natural parent presumption had been rebutted by clear and convincing evidence; and that this case be remanded for proceedings consistent therewith; and

That this Court find that the Chancellor in this cause lacked any basis for the modification of Cause No.: 2003-0358-GN-G following the dismissal of Chad Sharff's claims; that no evidence in support of a material change in circumstances was offered therein, and remand this case for proceedings consistent therewith.

## ARGUMENT

### ISSUE ONE: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE NATURAL PARENT PRESUMPTION HAD BEEN OVERCOME AS TO KELLY BURGE

Mississippi law presumes strongly that it is in the best interest of a child to remain with natural parents rather than any third party. *K.D.F. v. J.L.H.*, 933 So.2d 971, 980 (Miss. 2006); Miss. Code Ann. § 93-13-1 (Rev. 2004) (“The father and the mother are the joint natural guardians of their minor children and are equally charged with their care, nurture, welfare and education ... If either father or mother die or be incapable of acting, the guardianship devolves upon the surviving parent.”)

The natural parent presumption is rebuttable upon a showing by clear and convincing evidence that 1.) The parent has abandoned the child; 2.) The conduct of the parent is so immoral as to be detrimental to the child; or 3.) The parent is unfit mentally or otherwise to have custody. Absent clear proof of one of the above circumstances, the natural parent is entitled to custody of his or her child. *Rutland v. Pridgen*, 493 So.2d 952, 954 (Miss. 1986); *McKee v. Flynt*, 630 So.2d 44, 47 (Miss. 1993). A finding that a third party is *in loco parentis* is not sufficient to overcome the presumption. *Smith*, 97 So.3d at 46-47. Neither is a finding grounded in totality of circumstances and long-term care on the part of a third party. *In re Custody of Brown*, 66 So.2d 726 (Miss. Ct. App. 2011).

Generally speaking, “... as long as a parent adequately cares for his or her child (i.e., *is fit*) there will normally be no reason for the State to inject itself into the private realm of the family to further question the ability of that parent to make the best decisions concerning

the rearing of that parent's children." *Traxel v. Granville*, 530 U.S. 57 120 S.Ct. 2054, 2056, 147 L.Ed.2d 49 (2000).

Providing clarity as to 'unfitness', the Mississippi Court of Appeals ruled that "We find that denial of custody to a natural parent in favor of a third party should be granted only when there is a clear showing that the natural parent has relinquished his parental rights, that he has no meaningful relationship with his children, or that the parent's conduct is clearly detrimental to his children." *In Re Guardianship of Brown*, 902 So.2d 604, 607 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)(citing Miss. Code Ann. § 93-15-103(3)). "In overcoming this presumption, especially when making the determination on miscellaneous grounds, a court should look for factors that indicate a natural parent's absence of a meaningful relationship with his child or behavior of the parent that is clearly detrimental to his child." *In re Custody of Brown*, at 609. A finding of exceptional circumstances to rebut the natural parent presumptions requires more than the proposition that a child's best interests may be served by a third party; there must be evidence of serious physical or psychological harm or a substantial likelihood of such harm. *Wilson v. Davis*, 181 So3d 991 (¶8) (Miss. 2016)(citing *Watkins v. Nelson*, 163 N.J. 235, 748 A.2d 558, 565 (2000)).

In this case, the Chancellor's finding that Kelly Burge's natural parent presumption had been rebutted lacked most if not all of the requirements outlined above. (Rec. Ex. 1 at 53; Clerk's Papers 0219). The Court's findings that Kelly Burge maintained a relationship with a paramour, and then both permitted her children to spend time in his company and misappropriated child support funds do not reflect the absence of a meaningful relationship with the minor children; nor does it constitute behavior that is clearly detrimental to the

minor children. It is clear that the Court deemed Burke Williamson to be a danger to the children, but there are no findings of fact or testimony in the record supporting such an assertion. The Chancellor's findings of detriment to the minor children must be supported by credible evidence. *Irle v. Foster*, 175 So.3d 1232 (¶20) (Miss. 2015) (notably, in *Irle* the chancellor found that the intention of the mother to move her minor child into the home of a sex-offender whose victim had been a child; that the mother had four out-of-wedlock children; that she had failed a drug test, reading positive for cocaine use; and that the minor children would be living with another unmarried couple). Here, the Chancellor references no evidence tending to demonstrate that Burke Williamson is dangerous to the minor children, and no such evidence is present in the record. (Rec. Ex. 1 at 25; Clerk's Papers 0191).

As to the Chancellor's clear implication that Kelly Burge's relationship with Burke Williamson is evidence of unfitness, appellate courts have noted that maintaining an extramarital relationship, including overnight stays with a member of the opposite sex to whom the parent is not married does not constitute immoral behavior requiring custody modification. See *Robison v. Robison*, 722 So.2d 601, 605 (Miss.1998); *Harrington v. Harrington*, 648 So.2d 543, 547 (Miss.1994); *Dunn v. Dunn*, 609 So.2d 1277, 1286 (Miss.1992). For such facts to be sufficient, there must also be objective proof that the overnight visitation is detrimental to the children. See *Harrington*, 648 So.2d at 547; *Dunn*, 609 So.2d at 1286. No such proof is present in the record in this case.

Similarly, the only mental health issues the record reflects on the part of Kelly Burge is depression, anxiety, and intermittent insomnia; none of these were shown or even alleged to represent potential harm to the minor children. (Rec. Ex. 1 at 25; Clerk's Papers 0191).

It is true that the Chancellor found that Craig Burge was *in loco parentis*; the Chancellor also noted, however, that a person *in loco parentis* has rights inferior to those of a natural parent, and that a natural parent remains entitled to custody unless the natural parent presumption is rebutted; “[t]he doctrine of *in loco parentis* does not, by itself, overcome the natural-parent presumption.” *Smith*, 97 So.3d at 46-47.

**ISSUE TWO: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MODIFYING CAUSE NO. 2003-0358-GN-G FOR RELIEF MADE BY A PARTY WHOSE CLAIMS WERE SUBJECT TO INVOLUNTARY DISMISSAL**

Involuntary dismissal pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 41(b) operates as an adjudication upon the merits absent a basis in lack of jurisdiction, improper venue, failure to join a party pursuant to Rule 19, or specification otherwise by the court. No such specifications or issues apply in this case, and the Chancellor granted the motion of Kelly Burge, *ore tenus*, for dismissal pursuant to Rule 41(b) as to Chad Sharff's requests for custody of the Sharff children. (Rec. Ex. 1 at 46; Clerk's Papers 0212 see Rec. Ex. 4; Clerk's Papers 0057). This had the effect of dismissing Chad Sharff's modification action, and no other requests for relief as to custody remained therein.

Following the dismissal of Chad Sharff's prayers for modification as to the custody of the Sharff children, this Court granted modification of the Sharff divorce judgment in favor of Craig Burge. The appellant contends that because the modification action was dismissed, there can be no change in the previous judgment of the court as to the Sharff judgment.

Further, the dismissal of the modification action filed by Chad Sharff constitutes an adjudication upon the merits thereof, and as such is final and total, subject to appeal; no such appeal or cross-appeal has been filed by Chad Sharff, making the adjudication made by the Chancellor in granting Kelly Burge's Rule 41 (b) motion final.

Nonetheless, the Chancellor ordered that the Sharff Judgment be modified as to custody, visitation and child support. (Rec. Ex. 1 at 63; Clerk's Papers 0229). Because Chad Sharff's prayers for relief were dismissed pursuant to Rule 41(b) and Craig Burge

never entered an appearance in or sought relief in that cause, there is no basis or surviving prayer for relief that permits modification therein. The appellant further contends that had such an attempt been made by Craig Burge, he would lack standing to seek a modification in the Sharff divorce.

In short, a current husband has no basis for seeking a custody modification of a spouses' previous divorce action; even if such an oddity as this procedural chimaera were possible, it could not be sustained unless the current and past husbands were the same individual, and that person filed a complementary modification action in the previous case in his own name.

## CONCLUSION

This case presents a set of facts and a procedural twist that may constitute questions heretofore unanswered by our courts. As the cultural identity of the conventional family shifts over time, such questions may become more common, but in the case *sub judice* they retain their novelty.

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