IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KELLY R. BURGE

v.

CAUSE NO. 2015-CA-01580

CRAIG A. BURGE,

CHAD SHARFF

APPELLEE.

APPELLANT,

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LAMAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE Mr. CRAIG A . BURGE

NO Oral Argument Requested

Presented by:

Hon. Allen Flowers Miss. Bar No. 7494 341 N. 25th Ave. Hattiesburg, MS 39401 Phone: 601.583.9300 Email: allen@aflowerslaw.net Attorney for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT:

The 90-page Opinion--which cites and follows correct legal standards and contains multiple key findings supported by 7 volumes of testimony and 63 Exhibits in evidence--is abundant support for the conclusion that Craig rebutted the natural parent presumptions clearly, and that the best interests of all four children require an award of sole legal and physical custody to Craig.

In her Brief Kelly chose to hide the facts. Kelly's arguments are thus thin, legal veneer designed to mask a record replete with her shocking moral, parental and legal failures, and persistent but untreated psychological impairment. Craig contends that Kelly neglected to summarize the proceedings below because no veneer is big enough, and no mastic is strong enough, to hide the conclusion that Kelly's "conduct is so immoral as to be detrimental to the children" and Kelly is "unfit, mentally or otherwise, to have custody." Op. 52.

Kelly also asks this Court to overlook that the Chancery Court found it "necessary to point out how incredible the Court finds Kelly's testimony to be, in nearly all respects", Op. 53, that Kelly is willing to harm the children to preserve her "self-perceived victimization", Op. 54, and that the "Court deems it necessary to intervene for the sake of the children." Op. 53. Kelly's fundamental arguments have not changed in this Court, and the devastating facts are still true and controlling.

The record shows that Kelly did not "lose" custody due to three modest indiscretions which should make no modern thinker blush. Kelly abandoned custody voluntarily at the beginning of the case for a new life with Burke. Kelly's claim is impossible to square with the record and cannot be reconciled with the Opinion. While it might be possible theoretically for a Chancellor to be manifestly wrong for 90 pages, Kelly has not tried seriously to prove that he was. The Opinion shows the Chancellor got it right despite Kelly's dedicated efforts to hide the ugly truth that has become her life, and now Kelly does not seem to contest the facts.

Kelly's substantive argument--that the Chancery Court somehow "lost" jurisdiction when

Chad's claims were dismissed for his failure to prosecute--never addresses where child custody jurisdiction allegedly went or where it might now be found. Kelly's implicit claim is that Rule 41(b) obliterates the Constitutional authority delegated to Chancery Courts to protect minors. This proposition would cut down on third-party custody claims, but Kelly cites no authority for the vacant notion and this Court need not labor long to dispatch it.

Equally hollow is Kelly's claim that the Chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard, especially when the precise standard is cited verbatim in the Opinion and then applied. The Chancery Court cited and followed authority prohibiting use of custody awards as a sanction for adultery, but there is far more at work in this case to justify–even compel–the Chancery Court's custody award without any reliance on sanctions. This Court should AFFIRM.

ARGUMENT:

Kelly has presented this Court with two primary arguments, one dubbed as 'substantive' and the other 'procedural'. Brief at 9-12. Regardless of the label applied, neither argument focuses on the polestar consideration in custody cases, neither reflects accurately the immense record below or the expansive findings by the Chancery Court, and neither has merit.

I. The Standard of Review Is Clear & Limited

The standard of review found in *In re Waites*, 152 So.3d 306 (¶ 13) (Miss. 2014), is cited properly. Brief at 8. There is no dispute that questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. *Waites*, 152 So.3d at ¶ 14.

There is no real dispute that natural parent presumptions can be rebutted by third parties like Craig only by 'clear and convincing' proof that: (1) the parent has abandoned the child; (2) the parent has deserted the child; (3) the parent's conduct is so immoral as to be detrimental to the child, or (4) the parent is unfit, mentally or otherwise, to have custody." *Id*. There is no dispute that Craig's *in loco parentis* status does not, by itself, overcome the natural parent presumption. *In re Smith*, 97 So.3d 43 (¶ 10) (Miss. 2012). While not addressed directly by Kelly, the "best interest of the child is paramount in any child-custody case." *Id*. at ¶ 8.

Once any of the rebuttal factors was established clearly, Kelly's natural parent presumption

protection"vanishes, and the court must go further to determine custody based on the best interests of the child through an on-the-record analysis of the *Albright* factors." *In re Waites*, 152 So.3d 306, Note 9. Our appellate courts do " not reevaluate the evidence, retest the credibility of witnesses or otherwise act as a second fact-finder." *Bower v. Bower*, 785 So.2d 405, 412 (Miss. 2000). "The standard of review in child custody cases is limited." *Borden v. Borden*, 167 So.3d 238, 241 (¶ 4) (Miss. 2014). The "precise question we must answer is whether the evidence in the record supports the chancellor's decision." *Smith v. Smith*, 2015-CA-00213-SCT, at ¶22 (Miss. October 13, 2016).

II. The Facts Control The Decision

Third-party custody decisions are made on a case-by-case basis by Chancellors who have wide discretion. When a Chancellor follows the rules and guideposts–like the Chancery Court did below--his decision is not to be disturbed absent manifest wrong or clear error. *Mabus v. Mabus*, 890 So.2d 806, 810 (¶14) (Miss. 2003). No such error or abuse of discretion is manifest in this case. The Chancery Court was clearly apprised of, and followed, the "clear and convincing" evidentiary standard to rebut Kelly's natural parent presumption. Op. 51-53. The decision rendered is the only one that upholds the polestar consideration.

Although differing and sincere views of truth are possible, polar opposite truths are not. This case can be reduced to three options: (a) Craig and the Chancery Court are manifestly wrong and are lying about Kelly's parental unfitness and the resulting legal compulsion to award custody to Craig; (b) Kelly's cavalcade of moral failures, cleansing "dyscalculia", "magical thinking" and continuous contempt are simply misunderstood and she has a procedural wrinkle that makes it "legally impossible" for this Court to do anything but award custody to her, or; (c) the GAL and the Chancery Court got it right. The exhaustive record makes clear that the latter is the true choice, and the circumscribed nature of review bars serious consideration of most of Kelly's entreaty.

The disturbing parade of outrageous facts about Kelly outlined above, *see supra* at pages 4-5, 17-18 places this case outside of any controlling caselaw Craig has found, and well beyond any caselaw cited by Kelly. If anything, Kelly's natural parent presumption is obliterated many times over by Kelly's manifest immorality that the Chancellor expressly found detrimental to the all of the

children, and by her equally clear unfitness-mental and otherwise-to have custody. Op. 14, 52, 54-56. Whether Kelly's presumption 'vanished' due to her mental health impairment, to her depravity toward truthful testimony, court orders and rules, or to absconding with the wrong sort of man while steadfastly lying about it--or some combination thereof--the conclusion that Kelly's natural parent presumption has been rebutted clearly is supported by abundant record evidence. But there is more.

Hopefully unique here is that the Chancery Court emphasized just "how incredible the Court finds Kelly's testimony to be, in nearly all respects." Op. 53. At least unusual is that the eldest child made a written "election" to remain in Craig's custody over his mother and his father, and then offered solid testimony in support. Op. 17, 19-20. Hardly common is that Chad (as natural father of the two elder children) and the GAL supported Craig's custody request. Op. 41-42, 53. The GAL's recommendation that the four "blended" siblings not be separated is perhaps not yet routine, Op. 33, 41, but Kelly agreed with this position and the Chancery Court adopted it. Op. 34. The Chancery Court's decision not to award Kelly even joint legal custody speaks volumes. Op. 59. In short, Craig believes that this case stands alone in its remarkable depth and breadth of distinguishing facts.

Moreover, the facts here are so well developed and catalogued that this case should have little value as legal precedent. Kelly's attempt to paint this case as the stage for some ground-breaking "third-party custody" analysis distorts and over-sells the legal questions and ignores the torrent of unusual factual underpinnings that support the Chancery Court's custody award to Craig.

III. The Natural Parent Presumptions Are Rebutted Clearly

The clear rebuttal of Chad's natural parent presumption has not been challenged, but is manifestly correct.

Kelly contends that the Chancellor erred by ruling that her natural parent presumption was rebutted simply because she "had a boyfriend", and because she failed to comply with ostensibly mundane temporary orders regarding child support and shielding the children from Mr. Williamson. Brief at 9. Kelly's premise is at best misleading. This is "part of a larger pattern of behavior" by Kelly to mislead, just as Kelly did with the GAL and the Chancery Court. *See, James v. James*, 135 So.3d 188, 192 (¶ 14-15) (Miss.Ct.App. 2013).

The list of findings against Kelly's conduct, poor parental judgment and custodial fitness covers far more major issues than any case Kelly cites. Because Kelly elected not to address those findings in her Brief, a partial list is provided above. *See supra* at 4-5, 17-18. This Court is to "view the facts of a divorce decree in the light most favorable to the appellee." *Street v. Street*, 936 So.2d 1002, 1007 (¶ 12) (Miss.Ct.App. 2006), *citing Fisher v. Fisher*, 771 So.2d 364, 367 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2000).

Kelly is really asking this Court to substitute its judgment for that of a chancellor, which is inappropriate. *See, e.g., Copeland v. Copeland*, 904 So.2d 1066, 1074 (¶ 30) (Miss. 2004). The Chancery Court's findings of "evidentiary fact" and "ultimate fact" are entitled to the same deference. *Ricker v. Ricker*, 431 So.2d 1139, 1144 (Miss. 1983). The Chancellor "was in the best position to evaluate the factors pertaining to the best interests of the" children, and his rulings will not be disturbed if supported by the record. *Street*, 936 So.2d at 1009 (¶21). The exhaustive record amply supports even the few findings Kelly assails.

Craig submits that some of the Chancellor's findings may be sufficient alone to support the clear rebuttal of Kelly's natural parent presumption. Any triad of those findings is likely more than appears in caselaw where natural parent presumption rebuttals are upheld. Regardless, the combination of those findings satisfies even the most rigorous definition of "clear and convincing" proof. Having failed to address the voluminous record directly, Kelly does not appear to fault any of these findings as untrue or inaccurate. The record refutes any such claims she might now make.

A. Far More Than A One-Page Natural Parent Presumption Rebuttal

The Opinion belies Kelly's contention that the Chancery Court's findings in support of the rebuttal are limited to one page of the Opinion. Brief at 14. Kelly cites no authority for the veiled proposition that the Chancery Court's failure to recount each finding under the specific heading of the Opinion that addresses the natural parent presumption most directly is reversible error. *See Mabus*, 890 So.2d at ¶16. As shown above, Kelly's attack on the Opinion as thin, generic or reliant upon "miscellaneous grounds" is untrue and unfair.

B. More Than A Little Paramour Problem

Kelly's argument that she lost custody simply for having "a relationship with a paramour, and then. . .permitted her children to spend time in his company" is equally flawed. Brief at 14. As the record and the Opinion show, Burke is not just a garden-variety paramour or occasional overnight visitor. Craig has found no custody case where the live-in "paramour" suffers Burke's dangerous combination of physical and psychological afflictions, is known to be suicidal and comfortable living with a suicidal married woman, or is so averse to children that he deems them living in his house to be a perverted nightmare. Not many cases reflect a paramour who goes to Burke's extreme to expose a sordid affair via texts designed to "hurt" the husband at a particularly vulnerable time.

Kelly's decision to move in with Burke, a 'practicing alcoholic' by her tacit admission, "necessitated an exercise of parental judgment" that was at best a "poor one." *Street*, 936 So.2d at 1010 (¶¶ 26-27). Relying on "all of the evidence before him," *J.P.M. v. T.D.M.*, 932 So.2d 760, 777 (¶ 53) (Miss. 2006), the Chancellor found Burke to be "an individual the Court deems to be detrimental to the children's best interests." Op. 52.

Kelly cites no authority for the implicit notion that the Chancery Court was powerless to enjoin her from having the children around Williamson. Such injunctions are proper, *see, e.g., Street*, 936 So.2d 1006-07 (¶ 8-11), and Kelly clearly "defied and refused to obey the Court's injunction". Op. 52. "Such actions exhibit a disregard for the safety and well-being of the child that a chancellor must certainly consider when making a custody determination." *J.P.M.*, 932 So.2d at ¶ 53.

Burke defied court orders, abused at least one of the children physically, Op. 14, and lied so egregiously on the witness stand that the Chancery Court threatened perjury prosecution. Op. 26. Surely it is not the average paramour who cannot testify clearly about where he lives, Op. 25, how often he stays with the married woman versus at his other place, or where his clothes are. *Id.* This is not an exhaustive list.

Kelly's continued effort to normalize Mr. Williamson's outrageous misconduct paints them both with the same brush, and there is no argument that Burke and Kelly together somehow get better than they are individually. Craig contends that Kelly and Burke are a toxic combination for the children, and the Chancery Court agreed. There is far more at work here with the paramour than in the cases cited by Kelly.

C. It Was Necessary For The Court To Intervene

Kelly cannot escape the finding that "[g]iven the exhaustive amount of evidence in the record concerning Williamson. . .the Court deems it necessary to intervene for the sake of the children." Op. 52-53. This finding demonstrates harm and/or substantial likelihood of harm to the children. This same finding demonstrates detrimental impact upon the children from Kelly's refusal to obey orders and from her insistence that Burke be allowed to live with her and the children. *See, e.g., In re Custody of Brown*, 902 So.2d 604, 609 (Miss.Ct.App. 2004), and *Wilson v. Davis*, 181 So.3d 991 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2016). Other express findings of harm and detrimental impact populate the Opinion. Op. 14, 54-56.

The record contains many more parenting errors, on a larger scale and with more adverse impact on the children than any case cited by Kelly. Brief at 15. None of the cases cited by Kelly involve a mother's teenage son testifying that his mother is ignoring two injunctions against a live-in-paramour, that the situation is not good for the children, that he and his siblings are tasked with lying about it, and that he believes he and his full-blood-sibling should remain in the custody of an *in loco parentis* Dad. Op. 19-20.

D. More Than A Little Child Support Problem

Equally vacant is Kelly's contention that the other *faux pas* used to rebut her natural parent presumption was some benign misappropriation of child support funds (assuming there is such a thing). Brief at 14. Kelly defied a direct order to turn over to Craig child support paid by Chad. Op. 52. Kelly lied about whether Chad was paying support in the face of proof to the contrary and direct questioning by the Chancery Court. Op. 81-84. This issue alone may constitute "desertion" or "actions consistent with desertion." *Raines v. Raines*, 2014-CA-01266-COA, Lee, C.J., Concurring, at ¶ 46 (Miss.Ct.App. April 5, 2016).

Kelly lied about her receipt of this support on every Rule 8.05 declaration she bothered to

file. *See Trim v. Trim*, 33 So.3d 471, 477 (Miss. 2010). Kelly intended to improperly influence the court in its decision (*see* Op. 54, "she did not have money for a co-pay"). Kelly continued to assail Chad as an "unfit parent" for his alleged failure to pay the very support she stole, Op. 33, and then used Chad's support to wine and dine herself and Burke. Op. 52. Kelly's effort to deflect her disturbing liquor store purchases by claiming she "cooks a lot with wine" fooled nobody, but she did try. Op. 27.

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